

UCRL-JRNL-234868



LAWRENCE  
LIVERMORE  
NATIONAL  
LABORATORY

# Interpretation of Recent Temperature Trends in California

P. B. Duffy, C. Bonfils, D. Lobell

September 24, 2007

Eos

## **Disclaimer**

---

This document was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor the University of California nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or the University of California. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or the University of California, and shall not be used for advertising or product endorsement purposes.

1

## Interpretation of Recent Temperature Trends in California

Philip B. Duffy<sup>1,2</sup>, Celine Bonfils<sup>1,2</sup>, David Lobell<sup>1</sup>

1

University of California, Merced

2

Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory

Regional-scale climate change and associated societal impacts result from large-scale (e.g. well-mixed greenhouse gases) and more local (e.g. land-use change) “forcing” (perturbing) agents. It is essential to understand these forcings and climate responses to them, in order to predict future climate and societal impacts. California is a fine example of the complex effects of multiple climate forcings. The State’s natural climate is diverse, highly variable, and strongly influenced by ENSO. Humans are perturbing this complex system through urbanization, irrigation, and emission of multiple types of aerosols and greenhouse gases. Despite better-than-average observational coverage, we are only beginning to understand the manifestations of these forcings in California’s temperature record.

Deleted: ei

~~Recent congressional testimony (Christy 2006) cited disagreement between simulations of greenhouse warming and local temperature observations in California in concluding that "we are unable with any confidence to predict climate outcomes from policy options." Such statements should be regarded cautiously, however, since n~~ Neither the nature of climate trends in California, nor their causes, are well-understood. Trends in other, less complex, regions may be easier to observe, interpret and predict. Also, future climate change may be easier to simulate than historical changes, since greenhouse gas forcing will likely dominate other, more poorly understood forcings. This article discusses recent temperature trends in California, the role of climate models in understanding these trends, and research needed to improve ability to predict regional climate change.

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Strikethrough

How have temperatures changed in California during the last 50-100 years? Datasets analyzed by Bonfils *et al.* (2006a) show rapid increases in State-wide temperatures in late Winter and Spring, less rapid increases in Summer, and no clear trend in Fall. Warming

2

has been more rapid at night than in daytime. Smaller-scale trends are less clear. Gridded data sets indicate that, in seasons when warming has occurred, it has affected nearly the entire State. Observed trends are generally consistent among different data sets. An exception is that of Christy *et al.* (2006) who analyzed station data in the Sierra Nevada mountains and nearby Central Valley. Unlike other investigators, they found no warming **(actually nighttime cooling)** (COMMENT: THIS SEEMS TO CONTRADICT A LATER ITEM – SEE BELOW) in the Sierra. This trend, however, is probably much more

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Red

uncertain than acknowledged by the investigators, since the removal of one of 137 data segments completely eliminates the apparent trend (Bonfils *et al.* 2006b).

Warming measured by thermometer is consistent with findings from other types of temperature indicators. California river flows have shifted towards earlier in the year (Stewart *et al.*, 2005), indicating earlier melting of snow, and a shift in precipitation from snow to rain. Snow water content has declined (Mote, 2004), and certain plant species are blooming earlier in Spring (Cayan *et al.*, 2001). Loss of snow and altered river flows indicate warming specifically in the higher elevations, in contrast to the findings of Christy *et al.* (2006).

Deleted: seen in

Deleted: measurements

What is causing these trends? Bonfils *et al.* (2006a) showed that rapid increases in observed daily average and daily minimum temperatures in California exceed those possible from natural internal climate variability alone, as estimated by global climate models. This means that some external factor(s), e.g. urbanization or greenhouse warming, must be acting to increase temperatures in California.

Deleted: (

Deleted: )

Models are of limited help in identifying these factor(s), or in interpreting observed temperature trends in California. Global model simulations of the 20th century archived in the IPCC database at LLNL do not in general reproduce observed temperature trends in California (Bonfils *et al.*, 2006a). While all simulations show warming, none reproduce the observed seasonal or diurnal cycle of temperature increases. However, these simulations do not treat all relevant forcings: none includes effects of irrigation and few include other types of land-use changes (such as urbanization), most use simplified treatments of only limited types of aerosols. (Agricultural aerosols, for example, are omitted.) Some regionally-varying forcings are not characterized well enough to allow them to be represented in climate models. The biggest problem, however, is probably the coarse spatial resolutions used in the IPCC simulations, which prevent simulation of the complex topography and ocean-land interactions in California. (For example, coarse resolution will reduce or eliminate any snow-albedo feedback, since snow amounts are much less than observed, and may be zero.) Also, coarse resolution makes it difficult to represent regionally-varying forcings or responses to them.

Thus, even ignoring possible inherent inadequacies in how models represent relevant physical processes, it is hardly surprising that these simulations do not accurately reproduce observed temperature trends in California. Finer resolution global or limited domain models should be able to better represent regional climate forcings, processes, and responses; however most of the simulations that would be needed to interpret observed trends in California have not been performed. To guide interpretation of observed trends, simulations of individual forcings (as have been performed with the DOE/NCAR Parallel Climate Model (PCM) (EXPLAIN ACRONYM) global model), as well as simulations of multiple forcings in combination, are needed.

Based on the apparent contrast between temperatures trends found in the Central Valley

and the Sierra region (~~discussed above~~), Christy *et al.* (2006) ~~speculate~~ suggest that irrigation has

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Strikethrough

been the dominant influence on California temperatures, causing **rapid (?) nighttime warming in affected localities** (IS THIS CORRECT? SHOULD THIS BE COOLING? correct as stands). Observations and simulations both show that while irrigation can be locally

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Red

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Red

important, its effects are very different from those proposed by Christy *et al.*

Observational studies indicate that irrigation has had a large cooling effect on local summertime daytime temperatures in California (Bonfils *et al.* 2006c, Lobell and Bonfils, 2006); any effect on nighttime temperatures, however, is minimal, contrary to the ~~speculation~~ suggestion of Christy *et al.* (2006). Indeed, irrigation ~~is~~ used to influence the

Formatted: Strikethrough

Deleted: can be

quality of wine-grapes (Aljibury *et al.*, 1975) and avocados (Miller *et al.*, 1963) in California through a local cooling effect. Modeling studies (Kueppers *et al.*, 2006; Lobell *et al.* 2006a,b) generally support the hypothesis that irrigation produces significant daytime cooling and little temperature effect at night. ~~this picture~~. The cooling effect of irrigation results from

Deleted: effect

Formatted: Strikethrough

increased latent heat fluxes, which in turn reduce sensible heat. Lobell *et al.* (2006b) further show that irrigation can interact interestingly with greenhouse warming: by 4

keeping surface soil wet, irrigation can shut off a positive feedback in which warming would otherwise reduce soil moisture and amplify warming.

~~Interpretation of temperature trends in California is aided by consideration of trends in other, particularly surrounding, regions.~~ Temperature trends in California share some important characteristics with trends elsewhere, including most of the Western U.S.

Formatted: Strikethrough

Cayan *et al.* (2001), for example, showed that springtime temperatures have increased in nearly all of Western North America since 1950. Similarly, trends in temperature indicators such as snow water content (Mote *et al.* 2005) and river flow timing (Stewart *et al.*, 2005) are also coherent across much of the Western U.S. This supports the hypothesis (Dettinger and Cayan, 1995); Peterson *et al.*, 2000) that these trends result from large-scale (e.g. greenhouse-gas) rather than local (e.g. irrigation or urbanization) forcings. Bonfils *et al.* (2006a) attribute warming observed during January – March in the Western U.S. to a large change in atmospheric circulation in the Northern Pacific resulting from greenhouse-gas-induced warming.

Within the State, regional scale forcings (land-use, aerosols) may be important. Irrigation has very strongly influenced local trends in daily maximum temperatures ( $T_{\max}$ ). While this effect likely contributes to the smaller state-wide  $T_{\max}$  trend in Summer compared to Winter and Spring, the observation of a similar seasonal cycle of warming in other regions indicates that other mechanism(s) must also be important. Similarly, urbanization creates a significant local heat island (Ladochy *et al.*, 2007), and simulations (Bereket *et al.* 2005) indicate that this warmth can be advected at least short distances.

Formatted: Subscript

Formatted: Subscript

Because of the complexity of regional climate processes, it is difficult to attribute observed trends to specific forcings without performing detailed model simulations;

qualitative arguments are likely to be misleading. As noted above, simulations of individual forcings, as well as of multiple forcings in combination, performed at fine spatial resolution, are needed. Ideally, ensembles of simulations with both individual and multiple models would be performed for each combination of forcings. This would allow characterization of climatic signatures of individual forcings, which could then be

5

searched for in the observational record. Besides a major effort, this would require improved characterization of some relevant forcings, e.g. aerosols and urbanization.

What does this mean for future climate in California and elsewhere? The 21st century may well be less complex climatically than the 20th, in that greenhouse warming is likely to become dominant over at least most of the multiple climate influences that have recently been similar in magnitude. Stricter regulation of air quality is likely to reduce aerosol forcings; ~~the extent of irrigation and the magnitude of evaporative losses are likely to decrease as development spreads and water becomes valuable.~~ By contrast, however, the climatic signature of urbanization is likely to strengthen. These anticipated reductions in cooling-type forcings (aerosols and irrigation) combined with increases in warming-type forcings (greenhouse and urbanization) may lead to more rapid warming in California than is now expected. Nonetheless, we would gain confidence in climate projections if we could identify the signatures of individual forcings in the observational record, and show that models accurately represent those that will be important in the future. ~~Other regions that are less climatically diverse and have fewer important forcing agents than California may be easier to make projections for.~~ Nonetheless, the key to more confident projections of future climate is better understanding of recent observed trends.

Formatted: Font color:

Deleted: (also presumably, if it gets drier in future, irrigation need might increase?)

Formatted: Strikethrough

## References

Aljibury, F. K., R. Brewer, P. Christensen, and A. N. Kasimatis, 1975: Grape response to cooling with sprinklers, *Am. J. Enol. Vitic.* 26:4:214-217.

Bereket et al. 2005: AMS abstract. <http://ams.confex.com/ams/pdfpapers/105217.pdf>

Bonfils, C., P. Duffy, B. Santer, D. Lobell, Thomas J. Phillips, T.M.L. Wigley, Charles Doutriaux, 2006a: Identification of external influences on temperatures in California, submitted to *Climatic Change*.

[Bonfils, C., P. Duffy, and D. Lobell \(2007\), Comments on "Methodology and Results of Calculating Central California Surface Temperature Trends: Evidence of Human-Induced Climate Change?" J. Climate, 20, 4486-4489.](#)

6

[Bonfils, C., and D. Lobell \(2007\), Empirical evidence for a recent slowdown in irrigation-induced cooling, PNAS, 0700144104.](#)

Cayan, D., E. Maurer, M. Dettinger, M. Tyree, K. Hayhoe, C. Bonfils, P. Duffy, and B. Santer, Climate Change Scenarios for California; appendix to the California Energy Commission report # CEC-500-2005-203-SF, available at <http://www.energy.ca.gov/2005publications/CEC-500-2005-203/CEC-500-2005-203-SF.PDF>

Cayan, D. R., S. A. Kammerdiener, M. D. Dettinger, J. M. Caprio, and D. H. Peterson, 2001: Changes in the onset of Spring in the Western United States, *Bull. Amer.*

Deleted: Bonfils, C., P. B. Duffy, D. B. Lobell, 2006b: Comment on 'Methodology and results of ¶ calculating Central California surface temperature trends: evidence of human-induced ¶ climate change?' by Christy *et al.*, accepted by *Journal of Climate*. ¶

Deleted: Bonfils, C., and D. Lobell, 2006c: Empirical evidence for a recent slowdown in ¶ irrigation-induced cooling, submitted to PNAS.

*Meteor. Soc.*, 82, 399-415.

Christy, J. R., W. B. Norris, K. Redmond, and K. P. Gallo, 2006: Methodology and results of calculating Central California surface temperature trends: evidence of human-induced climate change? *J. Climate*, 19, 548–563.

Christy, J. R., 2006: Congressional testimony.

<http://reform.house.gov/GovReform/Hearings/EventSingle.aspx?EventID=46863>

Dettinger, M. D., and D. R. Cayan, 1995: Large scale atmospheric forcing of recent trends toward early snowmelt runoff in California, *J. Climate*, 8, 602-623.

Duffy, P. B., R. W. Arritt, J. Coquard, W. Gutowski, J. Han, J. Iorio, J. Kim, L-R Leung, J. Roads, E. Zeledon, Simulations of present and future climates in the western U.S. with four nested regional climate models, *J. Climate*, Vol. 19, No. 6, pp. 873-895, 2006.

Kueppers, L. M., Snyder, M. A., Sloan, L. C., Cayan, D., Jin, J., Kanamaru, H., Kanamitsu, M., Miller, N. L., Tyree, M., Du, H., and Weare, B.: 2006, 'Multi-model comparison of the climate response to land-use change in the western United States', *Glob. Planet. Change*, submitted.

Ladochy, S., R. Medina, and W. Patzert, 2007: Recent California climate variability: spatial and temporal patterns in temperature trends, *Climate Res.*, 33, 159 – 169.

Lobell, D.B., G. Bala, and P.B. Duffy. 2006. Biogeophysical impacts of cropland management changes on climate. *Geophysical Research Letters* 33:L06708  
10.1029/2005GL025492.

7

Lobell, D.B., G. Bala, C. Bonfils, and P.B. Duffy. 2006. Potential bias of model projected greenhouse warming in irrigated regions. *Geophysical Research Letters* 33:L13709, doi:10.1029/2006GL026770.

Lobell D. and C. Bonfils, 2006: The effect of irrigation on regional temperatures: an analysis of spatial and temporal trends in California, 1934-2002, submitted to *J. Climate*.

Miller, M. P., F. M. Turrell, and S. W. Austin, 1963: Cooling avocado trees by sprinkling, *California Agriculture*, 17, pp. 4 – 5.

Mote, P., A. F. Hamlet, M. P. Clark, D. P. Lettenmaier, 2005: Declining mountain snowpack in western North America, *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 86, 39-49.

Peterson, D. H., R. E. Smith, M. D. Dettinger, D. R. Cayan, and L. Riddle, 2000: An organized signal in snowmelt runoff over the western United States, *J. Amer. Water Resources Assn.*, 36, 421-432.

Stewart, I. T., DR Cayan, M. D. Dettinger, 2005: Changes toward earlier streamflow timing across western North America, *Journal of Climate*, 18, 1136–1155.

This work performed under the auspices of the U. S. Department of Energy by University of California, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory under Contract W-7405-Eng-48.